### SUPREME COURT FILED

### In the Supreme Court of the State of CaliforniaFEB 22 2019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Deputy

Case No. S252220

v.

ERIC J. FRAHS,

Defendant and Appellant.

Orange County Superior Court, Case No. 16CF0837
The Honorable Glenn R. Salter, Judge
Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division Three,
Case No. G054674

### RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

In granting review, this Court limited the issues to the following:

- 1. Does Penal Code section 1001.36 apply retroactively to all cases in which the judgment is not yet final?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeal err by remanding for a determination under Penal Code section 1001.36?

#### INTRODUCTION

As he had often done in the past, appellant Eric Frahs attempted to steal beer and an energy drink from a small market. But this time when the owner and his son tried to stop appellant, he ran into the owner and punched him in the head. At trial, appellant presented evidence that he suffers from schizoaffective disorder and he maintained that he heard voices telling him that the police would allow him to steal the drinks as long as he submitted to their authority. The jury rejected appellant's defense that he did not have the intent to commit theft and convicted him of two counts of robbery, among other crimes. Later, the trial court likewise rejected appellant's mental defense, declined to dismiss his prior strike, determined he was ineligible for probation, and sentenced him to prison for nine years.

While his appeal was pending on an unrelated challenge to the prior strike, the Legislature enacted Penal Code section 1001.36 (all further statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise noted), which provides for pretrial mental health diversion. Because the Court of Appeal had already issued a decision rejecting appellant's claim, appellant filed a petition for rehearing urging the appellate court to remand his case to allow the trial court to consider granting him diversion. Although respondent argued the new law was not retroactive, the Court of Appeal disagreed. It issued a new decision holding not only that the new law applied to

appellant because his claim was not final on appeal, but also that because appellant satisfied one of the six prerequisites to be eligible for the program (namely, he had a qualifying mental disorder), he was entitled to have his case remanded for a determination of eligibility.

The Court of Appeal erred in both regards. The new diversion statute is not retroactive. The statute is intended to provide pretrial diversion to certain individuals suffering from identifiable mental disorders in order to reduce the number of cases where legal proceedings are suspended and criminal defendants are referred for competency evaluations to the Department of State Hospitals. Commensurate with this intent, the language of the statute expressly demonstrates the Legislature's intent to limit the application of "pretrial diversion" to criminal defendants whose cases have yet to reach the point of adjudication and therefore whose competency to stand trial would be at issue. Defendants who were tried and convicted have already had their cases adjudicated, and thus are precluded from seeking relief under section 1001.36. This statutory language, as well as similar language in other diversion statutes, the legislative history, subsequent amendments to the statute, and the potential for undermining jury verdicts, reveals the Legislature did not intend the statute apply retroactively to all cases not final on appeal, and certainly not to those cases that had reached the stage of conviction.

But even if the statute were retroactive, the record in this case demonstrates that appellant does not satisfy the conditions for eligibility. The trial court agreed with the jury that mental illness was not a substantial factor in appellant's (oft-repeated) decision to steal alcohol. Moreover, once the court found the strike true and declined to dismiss it, appellant was statutorily prohibited from receiving any type of suspended sentence, which would include diversion. Finally, on a broader level, any motion for

diversion would be procedurally barred as untimely because appellant's case has already been adjudicated.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 25, 2017, an Orange County jury convicted appellant of two counts of robbery (§ 211; counts 1 & 2), as well as one count of throwing a substance at a vehicle without intent to cause injury (Veh. Code, § 23110, subd. (a)), as a lesser included offense of throwing a substance at a vehicle with intent to cause injury (Veh. Code, § 23110, subd. (b)). (CT 154–157.)

In a bifurcated proceeding, the trial court found that appellant had previously suffered a prior serious felony (§ 667, subd. (a)), which was also a prior strike (§§ 667, subd. (b)–(i); 1170.12). (3RT 622.) That conviction was based on appellant's 2015 assault upon a person with a broken beer bottle. (CT 223.)

Prior to sentencing, appellant was evaluated to participate in Orange County's WIT (Whatever It Takes) program, which is designed to treat persons with serious mental illness. Although he had previously participated in the program, appellant was deemed unacceptable to enter the program. (2RT 325; 3RT 624.)

At sentencing, appellant asked the trial court to employ its discretion to dismiss his prior strike under *People v. Superior Court (Romero)* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 497. As a basis for this request, he urged that his mental illness was a "huge contributor" to his crimes, and that because of his mental illness, it would not be appropriate to sentence him under the Three Strikes law. (CT 196.) The trial court denied appellant's *Romero* motion. The trial court found that appellant knew his conduct was illegal; he simply did not believe there would be any consequences from it because this is what voices in his head told him. (3RT 629.) Accordingly, the court determined it would be inappropriate to strike the prior strike. (3RT 629.)

The court sentenced appellant to a total term of nine years in prison, consisting of a low term of two years for count 1, which was doubled to four as a result of the strike, and an additional five years for the prior serious felony enhancement. Count 2 was ordered to run concurrently, and the final charge of throwing a substance at a vehicle was suspended because it was a misdemeanor. (3RT 631–633.)

Appellant timely appealed the judgment to Division Three of the Fourth Appellate District. He initially challenged the evidence that his prior offense constituted a strike. However, after the Court of Appeal rejected this claim, he petitioned for rehearing, claiming that pretrial mental health diversion under section 1001.36, which the Legislature enacted while his appeal was pending, should apply retroactively to him. On September 28, 2018, the Court of Appeal granted rehearing and issued a new published decision holding that section 1001.36 applies retroactively to all cases not yet final on appeal. (People v. Frahs (2018) 27 Cal.App.5th 784, 786.) Because the Court of Appeal concluded the record "affirmatively discloses" that appellant "appears to meet at least one of the threshold requirements" for eligibility (namely, a diagnosed mental disorder), the appellate court ordered the trial court to conduct an eligibility hearing and, to the extent possible, treat the matter as though appellant had moved for pretrial diversion after the charges had been filed, but prior to their adjudication. (Id. at p. 791.) Accordingly, the Court of Appeal conditionally reversed the judgment: The court held that if appellant qualifies for and is given diversion, then the charges are to be dismissed; on the other hand, if the trial court finds that appellant does not meet the criteria under section 1001.36, or appellant does not complete diversion, then the conviction and sentence are to be reinstated. (*Id.* at p. 792.)

This Court granted review on its own motion and limited the issues to be briefed to those listed at the outset of this brief.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Appellant Throws Rocks at Cars, Steals a Can of Beer and an Energy Drink, and Then Punches a Store Owner in the Head

On the morning of March 31, 2016, appellant walked into a market in Santa Ana to purchase beer. (1RT 190, 191, 193.) The owner of the market, however, refused to sell him the beer because about a week earlier appellant had tried to take some cigarettes from the store without paying. (1RT 193–196; 2RT 209.)

Appellant left the market and began throwing pieces of brick at passing cars. (2RT 210, 215, 262–264, 265.) He struck the windshield of one car, cracking or shattering the glass. (2RT 239, 265.) The car, however, did not stop. (2RT 254, 266.) Next, appellant went to a nearby parking lot and began stacking bricks on the roof of a parked car. (2RT 218–220, 240–241.)

Appellant returned to the store. Although the owner stood outside and told him that he would not sell him any beer, appellant nonetheless entered the market. (2RT 220.) Appellant walked directly to a refrigerated section and selected a can of beer and a Red Bull energy drink. (2RT 221.) As appellant walked towards the exit, the owner said that he would not sell him the beverages. (2RT 221–222.) The owner and his adult son used their bodies to block the exit. (2RT 222–223.)

Appellant lowered his shoulder and rushed or lunged toward the owner. (2RT 224, 290.) As the owner and his son struggled to restrain appellant, he threw the Red Bull out the door, dropped the beer, and used his fist to punch the owner in the back of his head. (2RT 225, 244, 248, 270.) After he was punched in the head, the owner lost his grip on appellant and fell down. (2RT 225.) Appellant left the store, but the owner managed to tackle him outside. (2RT 226.) Appellant tried to strike the

owner, but the owner's son held appellant's hands, pinning him down until officers arrived. (2RT 228, 281.)

### B. Appellant Presents Evidence of His Mental Illness at Trial

Appellant, who was 30 years old at trial, testified in his own defense. (2RT 308.) He described his history of mental illness, including auditory hallucinations that began when he was 22. (2RT 320.) He was hospitalized on at least eight occasions, and in 2015 a conservator was appointed for roughly a year. (2RT 324–325.) He had been prescribed a variety of medications, including antidepressants, mood stabilizers, antipsychotics, and anti-anxiety pills. (3RT 328.) An admitted alcoholic, appellant had been in and out of various sober living facilities. (2RT 322, 377.)

Although at times he maintained a variety of different jobs (2RT 378), by age 29 appellant was homeless and living on the streets (2RT 372). Over the years, he had been convicted of an assault with a beer bottle, as well as eight theft offenses, including an attempted theft of alcohol at age 19, and several cases involving 7-Eleven stores in 2010, some of which also involved theft of beer. (2RT 322, 326–330, 384–385, 389.)

Four days before the present offense, appellant stopped taking his prescribed medications. (2RT 336.) On the day of the offense, appellant was suffering from delusions and hallucinations. (2RT 337.) He heard the owner of the market talking on his cell phone outside the store, and appellant believed the owner was calling the police. (2RT 345.)

An angel on a horse, or perhaps the voice of a friend from high school, told appellant to call his father to get help. (2RT 346.) Appellant placed a traffic cone in the street and directed cars into the market parking lot. (2RT 347.) Later, an angel told appellant to throw rocks at a car, so that it would pull over and he could "bum" money to pay for the items he wanted, or alternatively so that he could use a phone or get a ride. (2RT 348, 401–402.)

Appellant wanted to "borrow" money from someone to pay for the items, rather than commit the crime of stealing. (2RT 406.)

When his efforts failed, appellant heard a voice telling him to "bust a jack move," meaning to commit a petty theft. (2RT 398.) The voice told him that the police would let him get away with anything, so long as he ultimately submitted to their authority. (2RT 348, 398.) Appellant told himself that he would go to the store to get what he needed, which included his morning supply of beer, Red Bull and cigarettes, but that he would pay for these items. (2RT 348, 398–399.)

Although his plan to burn or borrow money was unsuccessful, appellant nonetheless went into the store even without money to make the purchase. (2RT 407.) Appellant maintained he believed he had money on a debit card, even though he had given away his debit card earlier that morning and notwithstanding his attempt to "burn" the money. (2RT 341, 407.)

Appellant claimed he did not know the owner did not want him in the store. (2RT 399.) Appellant went straight to the rear of the market and grabbed a beer and a Red Bull, but the owner's son told appellant to put the beer back. (2RT 349–350.) Appellant believed he was not allowed to purchase beer because the owner did not want him drinking alcohol in public. (2RT 350.) After putting the beer back, appellant was confused and believed he would be allowed to keep the Red Bull without paying. (2RT 350, 404.)

Appellant said, "Thank you," and began walking toward the two men. (2RT 351.) The owner grabbed appellant from behind, and, after a struggle, tackled appellant inside the store. (2RT 352.) The blow caused appellant to lose his grip on the can of Red Bull, which flew outside. (2RT 353.) The owner then took appellant outside and pinned him down until the police arrived. (2RT 354.)

A forensic and clinical psychologist also testified on appellant's behalf. Based on his review of a report from one of appellant's prior hospitalizations, records of appellant's criminal history, and an interview with appellant, as well as historical information provided by appellant's parents, the psychologist opined that appellant suffers from schizoaffective disorder, which is a combination of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. (2RT 414, 416, 419, 421, 425, 428.) The psychologist concluded that in the days preceding the arrest appellant was suffering from a psychotic episode such that he was not in touch with reality. (3RT 458.) Likewise, appellant was experiencing symptoms on the day of the offense, as evidenced by his decision to throw rocks at cars in order to bum money. (3RT 464–465.)

Although the psychologist was aware appellant reported suffering from delirium tremens on the day of the theft, the psychologist was unaware that appellant was treated for alcohol withdrawal while in jail or that appellant had denied having any delusions or hallucinations when evaluated by a jail doctor—facts that could have influenced the psychologist's opinion. (3RT 488, 491–492.)

The psychologist acknowledged that appellant does not suffer from command hallucinations and that the voice he heard did not tell him what to do; instead, the voice only told him that it was permissible to steal as long as he later cooperated with police. (3RT 494–495.) In addition, the psychologist concluded that appellant knew he did not have any money after he gave away his debit card, and that this was the reason he attempted to bum money by throwing rocks. (3RT 497–498.)

### C. Defense Counsel Argues Appellant Lacked Intent to Steal

In argument to the jury, defense counsel urged that the prosecution had not shown beyond a reasonable doubt that appellant intended to permanently or temporarily deprive the owner of the two drinks. Counsel

submitted that there was no intent to steal, because appellant was listening to voices that told him it was permissible to take the drinks because law enforcement officers would not do anything. (3RT 534–535, 546.) Defense counsel further maintained that there was no intent to inflict great bodily injury as to count 3; instead, appellant was trying to get the drivers to pull over so that he could bum money off them. (3RT 536–537.)

#### **ARGUMENT**

### I. SECTION 1001.36 IS NOT RETROACTIVE

The Legislature demonstrated its intent that section 1001.36 not be given retroactive effect to all cases not final on direct appeal. This legislative intent is seen not only in the language of the statute, especially in consideration of language in other similar diversion statutes, but also the legislative history of the statute and its subsequent amendments, as well as public policies that caution against undermining jury verdicts. These indicia of legislative intent demonstrate at a minimum that the Legislature intended to limit retroactive application to exclude adjudicated cases. The Court of Appeal's contrary conclusion, which failed to consider the statute's history and which was premised on an inapposite analogy to juvenile transfer proceedings under Proposition 57, is not persuasive.

### A. The Statutory Framework

Newly enacted section 1001.36 generally allows for pretrial diversion for persons suffering from certain mental illnesses. Although it was signed into law on June 27, 2018 as part of Assembly Bill (A.B.) 1810 (Stats. 2018, ch. 34, § 24), within three months the Legislature found it necessary to amend the law to restrict the eligibility requirements for persons charged with certain crimes as well as make a variety of other changes to the language of specific provisions. (Senate Bill (S.B.) No. 215, Stats. 2018, ch. 1005, § 1, as filed on September 30, 2018.)

"Pretrial diversion" is defined as the "postponement of prosecution, either temporarily or permanently, at any point in the judicial process from the point at which the accused is charged until adjudication, to allow the defendant to undergo mental health treatment...." (§ 1001.36, subd. (c).) The stated purposes of the diversion program include promotion of the following:

- (a) Increased diversion of individuals with mental disorders to mitigate the individuals' entry and reentry into the criminal justice system while protecting public safety.
- (b) Allowing local discretion and flexibility for counties in the development and implementation of diversion for individuals with mental disorders across a continuum of care settings.
- (c) Providing diversion that meets the unique mental health treatment and support needs of individuals with mental disorders.

### (§ 1001.35.)

As originally enacted, section 1001.36, subdivision (b), provided that pretrial diversion may be granted if the following six eligibility criteria are met:

- (1) The court is satisfied that the defendant suffers from a mental disorder as identified in the most recent edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, including, but not limited to, bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder, or post-traumatic stress disorder, but excluding antisocial personality disorder, borderline personality disorder, and pedophilia. Evidence of the defendant's mental disorder shall be provided by the defense and shall include a recent diagnosis by a qualified mental health expert. In opining that a defendant suffers from a qualifying disorder, the qualified mental health expert may rely on an examination of the defendant, the defendant's medical records, arrest reports, or any other relevant evidence.
- (2) The court is satisfied that the defendant's mental disorder played a significant role in the commission of the charged offense. A court may conclude that a defendant's mental disorder played a significant role in the commission of the

charged offense if, after reviewing any relevant and credible evidence, including, but not limited to, police reports, preliminary hearing transcripts, witness statements, statements by the defendant's mental health treatment provider, medical records, records or reports by qualified medical experts, or evidence that the defendant displayed symptoms consistent with the relevant mental disorder at or near the time of the offense, the court concludes that the defendant's mental disorder substantially contributed to the defendant's involvement in the commission of the offense.

- (3) In the opinion of a qualified mental health expert, the defendant's symptoms motivating the criminal behavior would respond to mental health treatment.
- (4) The defendant consents to diversion and waives his or her right to a speedy trial, unless a defendant has been found to be an appropriate candidate for diversion in lieu of commitment pursuant to clause (iv) of subparagraph (B) paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) of Section 1370 and, as a result of his or her mental incompetence, cannot consent to diversion or give a knowing and intelligent waiver of his or her right to a speedy trial.
- (5) The defendant agrees to comply with treatment as a condition of diversion.
- (6) The court is satisfied that the defendant will not pose an unreasonable risk of danger to public safety, as defined in Section 1170.18, if treated in the community. The court may consider the opinions of the district attorney, the defense, or a qualified mental health expert, and may consider the defendant's violence and criminal history, the current charged offense, and any other factors that the court deems appropriate.

### (A.B. 1810, Sec. 24.)

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