SUPREME COURT FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

APR 2 2 2019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

The People of the State of California, Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

Eric Jason Frahs,

Defendant and Appellant.

No. S252220

Court of Appeal No. G054674

Superior Court No. 16CF0837

On review from the
California Court of Appeal,
Fourth Appellate District, Division Three
and the
Superior Court of California for the County of Orange
Honorable Glenn R. Salter, Judge

APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

APPELLATE DEFENDERS, INC.

Arthur Martin Staff Attorney State Bar No. 222569

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

Argument

I.

Penal Code section 1001.36 applies retroactively to cases not yet final on appeal because:

- (a) the statute ameliorates potential punishment for a class of defendants;
- (b) the statute does not rebut the inference of ameliorative retroactivity; and
- (c) a broad application of the statute's mental health diversion process fulfills its stated policy purposes.

A. Introduction

On February 24, 2017, appellant Eric Frahs was sentenced to nine years in prison. (CT 35.) On June 27, 2018, while appellant's case was on appeal, the Governor signed Assembly Bill No. 1810 (2017-2018 Reg. Sess.) that, among other things, added sections 1001.35 and 1001.36 to the Penal Code. (Stats. 2018, ch. 34, § 24.) These sections comprise a chapter of the Penal Code called "Diversion of individuals with mental disorders." Section 1001.35 defines the three-part purpose of the chapter; section 1001.36 lays out the criteria for and processes of diversion.

On appeal, a panel of the Fourth District Court of Appeal,
Division Three, analyzed section 1001.36 under *In re Estrada*, *supra*,
63 Cal.2d 740 (*Estrada*) and *People v. Superior Court* (*Lara*) (2018) 4
Cal.5th 299 (*Lara*) and ruled the new diversion statute applies

retroactively to cases, like appellant's, that are not yet final on appeal. (*Frahs*, *supra*, 27 Cal.App.5th 784, 791, rev. gr.) In accord with that ruling, the court conditionally reversed the judgment and remanded the case to superior court to determine whether appellant qualifies for diversion under the statute. (*Id.* at pp. 791-792, rev. gr.)

This Court then ordered review of two issues in *Frahs*, including whether section 1001.36 is, as the Court of Appeal found, retroactive to all cases in which the judgment is not final. The answer, as explained in this argument, is yes. Section 1001.36 is retroactive in light of the principles this Court developed in a line of cases from *Estrada* to *Lara*, because it ameliorates potential punishment for a class of defendants, it is not expressly prospective, and a broad, retroactive application fulfills the stated policy purposes of the diversion process.

To the extent a determination whether section 1001.36 applies retroactively requires interpretation of the Legislature's intended policy purposes, section 1001.35 explicitly provides those purposes:

The purpose of this chapter [comprising §§ 1001.35 & 1001.36] is to promote all of the following:

(a) Increased diversion of individuals with mental disorders to mitigate the individuals' entry and reentry into the criminal justice system while promoting public safety.

- (b) Allowing local discretion and flexibility for counties in the development and implementation of diversion for individuals with mental disorders across a continuum of care settings.
- (c) Providing diversion that meets the unique mental health treatment and support needs of individuals with mental disorders.

(§ 1001.35.)

The policy purposes codified in section 1001.35 call for applying the diversion process in section 1001.36 as broadly as possible, including, through ameliorative retroactivity, cases not yet final on appeal on the statute's effective date.

B. Absent a contrary indication, statutes ameliorating criminal punishment apply retroactively to all cases in which the judgment is not final.

Criminal statutes are generally presumed to apply prospectively if they do not indicate otherwise. (§ 3; Estrada, supra, 63 Cal.2d 740 at p. 745.) In Estrada, supra, this Court ruled that one 'indication otherwise' is the enactment or amendment of a law that lessens punishment. (Id. at p. 745.) The Estrada court held that "[i]t was an inevitable inference that the Legislature must have intended that the new statute imposing the new lighter penalty now deemed to be sufficient should apply to every case to which it constitutionally could apply. The amendatory act imposing the lighter punishment can be

applied constitutionally to acts committed before its passage provided the judgment convicting the defendant of the act is not final." (*Id.* at p. 745.)

In People v. Francis (1969) 71 Cal.2d 66, 76, this Court extended the principle of ameliorative retroactivity to a statute amended to include the *possibility* of a lesser penalty. Specifically, the Legislature changed marijuana possession from a felony to a "wobbler" that could be treated as either a felony or a misdemeanor. (Id. at p. 75.) The Francis court inferred an ameliorative intent in the amendment "because the Legislature has determined that the former penalty provisions may have been too severe in some cases and that the sentencing judge should be given wider latitude in tailoring the sentence to fit the particular circumstances." (Id. at p. 76) The ameliorative effect of the new law meant a defendant whose case was not yet final when the new law became operative was entitled to a new sentencing hearing where the judge could decide whether to treat the conviction as a felony or a misdemeanor. (*Id.* at pp. 75-76.) In other words, even the *potential* for a lesser punishment under a new law created an inference of retroactivity, regardless of whether all defendants would ultimately get the lesser punishment.

This principle was further developed in a line of cases, including, recently, *Lara*, *supra*, 4 Cal.5th 299. In *Lara*, this Court ruled the principle of ameliorative retroactivity applied to a new law, Proposition

57, that potentially lessened punishment not for a particular crime, but for a class of persons, specifically minors. (Id. at pp. 303-304.) Proposition 57 changed the procedure for prosecuting minors as adults. Rather than let the prosecutor decide where a minor's case would proceed, the new law placed that decision in the juvenile court, to be made after receipt of a probation report and a full "transfer hearing" focused on facts concerning the minor and the alleged offense. (Id. at pp. 308-309.) The Lara Court ruled that the ameliorative effect of the statutory scheme created an inference of retroactivity under the Estrada line of cases, and that inference was not rebutted by a "saving clause" or any other indication of authorial intent. (Id. at pp. 303-304, 309.) Therefore, juveniles prosecuted in adult court whose cases were not final on appeal had a right to a conditional remand for a "transfer hearing" in the juvenile court. (Id. at pp. 309-310 [describing with approval the remedy (conditional remand for a hearing) ordered in People v. Vela (2017) 11 Cal.App.5th 68, 82, review granted July 12, 2017, and vacated on other grounds Feb. 28, 2018, S242298].)

Some punishment-ameliorating laws contain contrary indications obviating the inference of ameliorative retroactivity.

Proposition 47 was dramatically ameliorative, turning felonies into misdemeanors among other effects. (*People v. DeHoyos* (2018) 4 Cal.5th 594, 597-598.) But this Court found the new law did not apply retroactively to people already sentenced under the old law because the

new law provided a petition-and-hearing procedure through which those people could apply for resentencing under the new law. (*Id.* at p. 603.) The availability of the petition procedure for people already sentenced meant the law applied prospectively to people already sentenced, whether or not their cases were final after appeal. (*Ibid.*) This Court had reached the same conclusion in analyzing Proposition 36. (*People v. Conley* (2016) 63 Cal.4th 646, 651-652 (*Conley*).) That legislation also rebutted the inference of ameliorative retroactivity because it contained its own retroactivity provision. (*Id.* at p. 651-652.) The ameliorative effect of the new law was made available without the need for retroactive application.

But when punishment-ameliorating legislation lacks an alternative retroactivity process or some other "saving clause' providing that the amendment should be applied only prospectively," the inference of ameliorative retroactivity prevails. (Conley, supra, 63 Cal.4th at p. 656.) As this Court has explained in Conley, "Because the Estrada rule reflects a presumption about legislative intent, rather than a constitutional command, the Legislature . . . may choose to modify, limit, or entirely forbid the retroactive application of ameliorative criminal law amendments if it so chooses." (Ibid.) When the Legislature chooses not to modify, limit, or forbid the ameliorative retroactivity of a new criminal law, the Estrada presumption applies, as it should here to section 1001.36.

C. Section 1001.36 is retroactive because it ameliorates potential punishment, it is not explicitly limited to prospective application, and retroactivity fulfills the stated policy purposes of mitigating the entry of individuals with mental disorders into the criminal justice system in favor of individually focused mental health treatment.

1. Standard of review: de novo

A judicial determination whether a new statute is retroactive is a question of law and therefore reviewed de novo. (Parsons v. Bristol Development Co. (1965) 62 Cal.2d 861, 861-865; Bullard v. California State Automobile Assn. (2005) 129 Cal.App.4th 211, 217.)

2. Section 1001.36 ameliorates the possible punishment for a class of persons charged with criminal offenses.

Absent contrary indications, a law that potentially ameliorates punishment for a class of people will apply retroactively to all cases not final on appeal at the time the law went into effect. (*Lara*, *supra*, 4 Cal.5th 299, 303-304.) As the Attorney General concedes, section 1001.36 is indisputably ameliorative. (Respondent's Opening Brief on the Merits [OBM], p. 39)

The new mental health diversion system creates potential lesser punishment for a class of people, specifically people suffering from mental disorders that were a significant factor in the commission of the offenses with which they are charged. (§ 1001.36, subds. (a) & (b).) People who successfully complete diversion have the charges dismissed

and "the arrest upon which the diversion was based shall be deemed never to have occurred." (§ 1001.36, subd. (e).)

In Lara, this Court noted there is a significant, life-altering difference between facing felony charges in adult court and a felony petition in juvenile court. (Lara, supra, 4 Cal.5th at p. 303.) The possibility of a juvenile court disposition is the potential ameliorative effect that made Proposition 57 retroactive. (Ibid.)

Like Proposition 57, section 1001.36 creates a whole new procedure with potentially huge punishment-lessening effect. Under Proposition 57, a qualified minor can avoid prosecution as an adult and possible prison time. Under section 1001.36, a qualified person can avoid prosecution altogether by accepting and successfully completing mental health treatment. Accordingly, section 1001.36 is ameliorative and therefore, under the *Estrada-Lara* line of cases, carries an inference of retroactivity absent indication of a contrary legislative intent.

3. Section 1001.36 contains nothing rebutting the inference of ameliorative retroactivity.

Nothing in the statutory language of sections 1001.35 and 1001.36 undermines the inference of ameliorative retroactivity to cases not final on appeal. There is no "saving clause" language making the statute explicitly prospective and no self-contained retroactivity provision. Based on this Court's recent decisions in *Conley, DeHoyos*,

and Lara, the Legislature knows new laws potentially lessening punishment apply retroactively to not-final cases if they do not explicitly rebut the inference of retroactivity. Nothing in sections 1001.35 and 1001.36 rebuts the inference of ameliorative retroactivity. The Attorney General's argument that the present-tense language of the statute describing the process of diversion rebuts the inference of retroactivity is in effect a request to overturn the principle of ameliorative retroactivity as developed in this Court's Estrada-Lara line of cases.

a. The present-tense language making "pretrial" mental health diversion under section 1001.36 possible "at any point in the judicial process... until adjudication" (subd. (c)) does not reflect a legislative intent to prospectively limit the ameliorative effect of the statute.

The Attorney General's argument against ameliorative retroactivity is based on the manner in which the statute is normally intended to operate. The "pretrial" diversion out of prosecution created by section 1001.36 is possible "at any point in the judicial process from the point at which the accused is charged until adjudication."

(§ 1001.36, subd. (c).) The Attorney General misconstrues this present-tense language describing how the system of diversion operates into a "saving clause" purportedly rebutting the *Estrada* inference of ameliorative retroactivity. (OBM, pp. 25-30.) In doing so, the Attorney General is reading a phantom intent into the statute. In fact, the

words "adjudication" and "pretrial" have nothing to do with the analysis of ameliorative retroactivity. As the *Frahs* court responded to the same point, "The fact that mental health diversion is available only up until the time that a defendant's case is 'adjudicated' is simply how this particular diversion program is ordinarily designed to operate." (*Frahs*, *supra*, 27 Cal.App.5th at p. 791, rev. gr.) The present-tense statutory language describing the normal operation of the diversion process is not reasonably interpreted as an explicit saving clause refuting the inference of ameliorative retroactivity.

The government's position is that if a defendant's "adjudication" occurred prior to the effective date of section 1001.36, it is too late for him to receive the benefit of the statute, even if the case was not yet final on appeal. This position confuses the normal operation of the diversion system with an intent to remove the inference of ameliorative retroactivity under *Estrada*. The Attorney General's confusion is manifest in his assertion that "the Legislature did not state, as it easily could have done, that pretrial diversion is available beyond resolution in the trial court until the judgment is final on appeal." (OBM, pp. 26-27.) Such a construction would *not* have made the diversion process in section 1001.36 retroactive to cases with an active appeal on its effective date; it would have been an alteration of the normal operation of the statute going forward. So the government's argument seems to be that since section 1001.36 does not apply

prospectively to all cases through appellate review, it does not apply retroactively under *Estrada*. In the context of this Court's *Estrada-Lara* line of cases establishing the principle of ameliorative retroactivity, this position does not make sense.⁴

This Court's prior cases establish that present-tense statutory language alone does not rebut the inference of the ameliorative retroactivity of new or amended laws. For example, the statutory change at issue in *People v. Francis*, *supra*, 71 Cal.2d 66, changed the possible punishment for marijuana possession. Before the change, a prison sentence of one to ten years was required; after the amendment, the crime became a felony-misdemeanor "wobbler" that was potentially punishable by not more than one year in jail. (*Id.* at p. 75.)

Similar to the argument in the instant case, in *Francis*, "[t]he Attorney General [] argue[d] that, since [Health and Safety Code] section 11530 as amended vests discretionary sentencing power in the trial court, 'the very nature' of the amendment leads to the conclusion that it was only intended to apply to cases where sentencing occurred

⁴ The confusion with prospective application of the law versus retroactive application through the *Estrada* inference appears again in section I.G of the Attorney General's opening brief on the merits. There he suggests the statute's normal prospective application "until adjudication" could apply "retroactively" to cases that had already been charged but not yet adjudicated at the time the statute went into effect. (OBM, pp. 37-38.) But in that situation, the statute applies prospectively starting on its operative date to every case that is not yet adjudicated.

after the effective date of the amendment – that to hold that the amendment applied to cases on appeal would be to hold that the trial court erred in not exercising discretion when it in fact had no discretion at the time it acted." (Francis, supra, at pp. 77-78.) Citing In re Ring (1966) 64 Cal.2d 450 and In re Corcoran (1966) 64 Cal.2d 447, the Francis Court rejected the argument that the normal operation of the statute – granting "wobbler" discretion at sentencing – was an indication that the ameliorative effect of the amended statute was not retroactive to non-final cases in which sentencing had already occurred. (Francis, supra, at p. 77-78.)

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